

## CORRESPONDENCE PAPER

**TITLE** : Intermittent fasting modulates human gut microbiota diversity in a phenotype-dependent manner: a systematic review

**JOURNAL** : Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health

**STATUS** : Q2



No	Activity	Date	Page
1	Submit to the journal “Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health”	29-12-2023	2-4
2	First revision : with major revision	25-2-2024	5-6
3	Submit first revision	11-3-2024	7-8
4	Second revision : with minor revision	23-3-2024	9-10
5	Submit second revision	24-3-2024	11-12
6	Paper accepted	11-4-2024	13
7	Editorial revision after accepted	18-4-2024	14-34
8	Final data submitted	21-4-2024	35



J-STAGE Powered by SCHOLARONE MANUSCRIPTS™


[3 Manuscripts I Have Co-Authored](#) >[Start New Submission](#) >[5 Most Recent E-mails](#) >

## Manuscripts I Have Co-Authored

- Manuscripts which you are co-authored are stored here.
- If you click each status in "Author Dashboard" at the left side, the manuscripts in the status will be displayed.

STATUS	ID	TITLE	CREATED	SUBMITTED
<a href="#">✉ Contact Journal</a> ADM: Editorial, Office	BMFH-2023-111.R2	Intermittent Fasting Modulates Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in a Phenotype-dependent Manner: A Systematic Review	24-Mar-2024	24-Mar-2024
<ul style="list-style-type: none"><li>Accept (11-Apr-2024)</li></ul> <i>Archiving completed on 22-Jun-2024</i>		<i>Files Archived</i> ? Submitting Author: Pramono, Adriyan		
<a href="#">✉ Contact Journal</a> ADM: Editorial, Office	BMFH-2023-111.R1	Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review	11-Mar-2024	11-Mar-2024
<ul style="list-style-type: none"><li>Minor Revision (23-Mar-2024)</li></ul>		<i>Files Archived</i> ?		



STATUS	ID	TITLE	CREATED	SUBMITTED
<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>a revision has been submitted</li> </ul> <i>Archiving completed on 22-Jun-2024</i>		Submitting Author: Pramono, Adriyan		
<a href="#">✉ Contact Journal</a> ADM: Editorial, Office	BMFH-2023-111	Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review	22-Dec-2023	29-Dec-2023
<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Major Revision (25-Feb-2024)</li> <li>a revision has been submitted</li> </ul> <i>Archiving completed on 22-Jun-2024</i>		<i>Files Archived</i>  Submitting Author: Pramono, Adriyan		

## Author Dashboard

1 [Manuscripts with Decisions](#) >

3 [Manuscripts I Have Co-Authored](#) >

[Start New Submission](#) >

[5 Most Recent E-mails](#) >

25. All Rights Reserved.

One are registered trademarks of ScholarOne, Inc.

257,767 and #7,263,655.

ment |  System Requirements |  Privacy Statement |  Terms of Use | Manage cookie



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Decision on Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111**

1 pesan

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalf@manuscriptcentral.com>

25 Februari 2024 pukul 15.52

Balas Ke: skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

25-Feb-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono:

Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111 entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review" which you submitted to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, has been reviewed. The comments of the reviewer(s) are included at the bottom of this letter.

The manuscript has been evaluated by an expert reviewer. The authors are requested to revise it according to the comments from the reviewer.

The reviewer(s) have recommended publication, but also suggest some revisions to your manuscript. Therefore, I invite you to respond to the reviewer(s)' comments and revise your manuscript.

To revise your manuscript, log into <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh> and enter your Author Dashboard, where you will find your manuscript title listed in "Manuscripts with Decisions." Click on "Create a Revision." Your manuscript number has been appended to denote a revision.

You will be unable to make your revisions on the originally submitted version of the manuscript. Instead, revise your manuscript using a word processing program and save it on your computer. Please also highlight the changes to your manuscript within the document by using the track changes mode in MS Word or by using bold or colored text.

Once the revised manuscript is prepared, you can upload it and submit it through your Author Center.

When submitting your revised manuscript, you will be able to respond to the comments made by the reviewer(s) in the space provided. You can use this space to document any changes you make to the original manuscript. In order to expedite the processing of the revised manuscript, please be as specific as possible in your response to the reviewer(s).

**IMPORTANT:** Your original files are available to you when you upload your revised manuscript. Please delete any redundant files before completing the submission.

Because we are trying to facilitate timely publication of manuscripts submitted to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, your revised manuscript should be uploaded as soon as possible. If it is not possible for you to submit your revision in a reasonable amount of time, we may have to consider your paper as a new submission.

Once again, thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health and I look forward to receiving your revision.

Sincerely,  
Dr. Shigeru Kamiya  
Editor in Chief, Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health  
[skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp](mailto:skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp)

[Editor's Comments]

Editor

Comments to the Author:

The manuscript has been reviewed by an expert referee. The authors are requested to revise it according to the comments from the referee.

[Reviewer(s)' Comments]

Reviewer: 1

## Comments to the Author

The manuscript reviews a clinical importance of intermittent fasting (IF) and its association with human gut microbiota by citing many recent publications. The protocol for the analysis is well designed and the results are well presented. As the manuscript is interesting for better understanding of the efficacy of IF and its effects on microbiota, it is worth reporting in the journal. However, the following points need to be considered.

1. We do not accept "Graphic Abstract". Therefore, if the figure is necessary, the authors need to add it as Figure 2 in the text.
2. line 76: *spp* (italic type) ---- *spp* (roman type)
3. line 114: BMI ---- body mass index (BMI)
4. lines 115, 136: intermittent fasting ---- IF
5. line 167: Full spelling of DASH needs to be written.
6. line 187: Buchinger --- Mesnage et al.      Ramadan ---- Ozkull et al.
7. line 200: Ruminococcaceae ---- Ruminococcaceae (27)
8. line 202: Akkermansia (*A. muciniphila*) ---- Akkermansia muciniphila
9. line 202: *B. fragilis* ---- Bacteroides fragilis
10. line 204: findings ---- findings (33)
11. lines 206, 217, 247, 344, 392, 415-416: Faecalibacterium prausnitzii --- F. prausnitzii
12. lines 217, 321, 391: Butyrivibrio pullicaecorum ---- B. pullicaecorum
13. lines 218, 344, 396, 400 : Akkermansia muciniphila ---- A. muciniphila
14. line 219, 278: Junhong Su ---- Su
15. line 222, 232: Ikram Ali ---- Ali
16. line 223: people ---- people (36)
17. line 238, probiotic treatment: Microbial genus/species of probiotics need to be described.
18. line 238: Bifidobacteria (italic type) --- Bifidobacterium (italic type)
19. line 239: Cluster IV (italic type) ---- cluster IV (roman type)
20. line 240: Cluster XIVa (italic type) ---- cluster XIVa (roman type)
21. line 250: and (italic type) ---- and (roman type)
22. line 257: 25 days). ---- 25 days) (30).
23. line 257: prevotella\_9 and prevotella\_2 ---- Prevotella\_9 and Prevotella\_2
24. line 255: What is the meaning of Ellin516?
25. line 273: Proteobacterium ---- Proteobacteria
26. line 281: fasting ---- fasting (34)
27. line 287: producers ---- producers (35)
28. line 290: IFNg+ ---- IFNgamma+
29. line 290: TNFa- ---- TNFalpha –
30. line 290: Full spelling of MAITs needs to be written.
31. line 292: IF ---- IF (39)
32. line 298: Full spelling of HOMA-IR needs to be written.
33. line 299: Neisseria dentiae ---- N. dentiae
34. line 323: *spp* (italic type), phylum (italic type) ---- *spp* (roman type), phylum (roman type)
35. line 360: Ruminococcus gnavus ---- R. gnavus
36. line 393: phylum (italic type) ---- phylum (roman type)
37. line 416: Clostridium (roman type) ---- Clostridium (italic type)
38. Titles of References 1, 2, 8, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 28, 32, 36, 38, 39, 40, 48, 51, 52, 55, 56, 57, 61: The use of capital letters is not correct. Please refer to reference 3.
39. References 8, 28, 32, 56, 57: The names of bacteria should be written in italic type.
40. Table 1: Yan He ---- He, Zeb F ---- Zeb, Junhong Su ---- Su, Iklam Ali ---- Ali, Stanislawski Ma ---- Stanislawski, Guo Y ---- Guo
41. Table 1, Measurement of the gut microbiome: Description should be shortened. Additional explanation needs to be added in the footnote.
42. Table 2: Yan He ---- He, Zeb F ---- Zeb, Junhong Su ---- Su, Iklam Ali ---- Ali, Stanislawski Ma ---- Stanislawski, Guo Y ---- Guo
43. Table 3: Yan He ---- He, Zeb F ---- Zeb, Junhong Su ---- Su,
44. Supplement Table S2: Yan He ---- He, Iklam Ali ---- Ali, Guo Y ---- Guo



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111.R1**1 pesan

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalfof@manuscriptcentral.com>11 Maret 2024 pukul  
10.49

Balas Ke: bmfh@ipecc-pub.co.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

11-Mar-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono:

Your manuscript entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review" has been successfully submitted online and is presently being given full consideration for publication in the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.

Your manuscript ID is BMFH-2023-111.R1.

Please mention the above manuscript ID in all future correspondence or when calling the office for questions. If there are any changes in your street address or e-mail address, please log in to Manuscript Central at <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh> and edit your user information as appropriate.

You can also view the status of your manuscript at any time by checking your Author Center after logging in to <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh>.

Due to the continued spread of SARS-CoV-2, many of our Editors and Reviewers are facing increased pressures and disruption from the closure of universities and movement to online-teaching. As such, the peer review process may take slightly longer than usual. We appreciate your patience and understanding during this time.

Thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.

Sincerely,  
Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health Editorial Office

### **Reviewer #1**

We would like to thank the editor and reviewers for their critical evaluation of our manuscript and the constructive comments that helped us improve it. We have addressed all points raised by the referees, as explained below in our point-by-point response to the reviewers' comments.

### **Response to comments Reviewer #1**

We would like to thank this reviewer for his/her remark that this is a very interesting paper in a hot area of gut microbiota research, with particular interest in the effect of intermittent fasting on the gut microbiota using a systematic review approach.

We are pleased that this reviewer appreciates that our findings are relevant to determine how intermittent fasting may affect the gut microbiota in distinct phenotypes in human.

1. **About graphical abstract - We do not accept "Graphic Abstract". Therefore, if the figure is necessary, the authors need to add it as Figure 2 in the text.**

We agree the suggestion of the reviewer. Therefore, we have removed the graphical abstract into the figure 2 of the manuscript.

2. **line 76: *spp* (italic type) ---- *spp* (roman type)**

We agree the suggestion of the reviewer. Therefore, we have edited based on reviewer's suggestion the manuscript (we highlight with yellow mark).





Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Decision on Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111.R1**

2 pesan

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalf@manuscriptcentral.com>

23 Maret 2024 pukul 14.33

Balas Ke: skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

23-Mar-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono: Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111.R1 entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review" which you submitted to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, has been reviewed. The comments of the reviewer(s) are included at the bottom of this letter.

The manuscript has been revised according to the comments from the referee. Further comments were pointed out by the referee. The authors are requested to revise it again according to the comments from the referee.

The reviewer(s) have recommended publication, but also suggest some minor revisions to your manuscript. Therefore, I invite you to respond to the reviewer(s)' comments and revise your manuscript.

To revise your manuscript, log into <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh> and enter your Author Dashboard, where you will find your manuscript title listed in "Manuscripts with Decisions." Click on "Create a Revision." Your manuscript number has been appended to denote a revision.

You will be unable to make your revisions on the originally submitted version of the manuscript. Instead, revise your manuscript using a word processing program and save it on your computer. Please also highlight the changes to your manuscript within the document by using the track changes mode in MS Word or by using bold or colored text.

Once the revised manuscript is prepared, you can upload it and submit it through your Author Center.

When submitting your revised manuscript, you will be able to respond to the comments made by the reviewer(s) in the space provided. You can use this space to document any changes you make to the original manuscript. In order to expedite the processing of the revised manuscript, please be as specific as possible in your response to the reviewer(s).

**IMPORTANT:** Your original files are available to you when you upload your revised manuscript. Please delete any redundant files before completing the submission.

Because we are trying to facilitate timely publication of manuscripts submitted to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, your revised manuscript should be uploaded as soon as possible. If it is not possible for you to submit your revision in a reasonable amount of time, we may have to consider your paper as a new submission.

Once again, thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health and I look forward to receiving your revision.

Sincerely,  
Dr. Shigeru Kamiya  
Editor in Chief, Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health  
[skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp](mailto:skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp)

**[Editor's Comments]**

Editor

Comments to the Author:

The authors need to revise the manuscript again according to the comments from the reviewer.

**[Reviewer(s)' Comments]**

Reviewer: 1

Comments to the Author

The manuscript has been revised according to my comments, but the following minor points need to be corrected.

- 1)line 238: *Lactobacillus plantarum* ---- *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum*
- 2)line 239: *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* ----- *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus*
- 3)line 258: *bacterium Ellin 516* (italic type) ----- *bacterium Ellin 516* (roman type)
- 4)line 327: *phylum* (italic type) ---- *phylum* (roman type)
- 5)line 503: *akkermansia* (italic type) ----- *Akkermansia* (italic type)
- 6)line 555: *akkermansia* (italic type) ----- *Akkermansia* (italic type), *bacteroides* (italic type) ----- *Bacteroides* (italic type)
- 7)line 567: *faecalibacterium* (italic type) ---- *Faecalibacterium* (italic type)
- 8)line 590: *firmicutes/bacteroidetes* (roman type) ----- *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* (roman type)

---

**Adriyan Pramono** <adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id>  
Kepada: Ferbian Milas Siswanto <ferbian.siswanto@atmajaya.ac.id>  
Bcc: Adriyan Pramono <adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id>

24 Maret 2024 pukul 11.46

Dear Dr. Ferbian

Melalui email ini saya teruskan komentar revisi minor dari BMFH.

Sekaligus, saya lampirkan hasil revisi saya dalam .zip. Untuk revisi dalam manuskrip saya highlight kuning. Kemudian minor rebuttal letter nya saya sertakan juga.  
Semua file revisi ada dalam folder terkompres.

Demikian saya mengucapkan terima kasih atas kerjasamanya.

Salam,  
Adriyan

Adriyan Pramono, PhD.

Assistant Professor  
Department of Nutrition Science,  
Faculty of Medicine,  
Diponegoro University, Indonesia.  
Center of Nutrition Research/CENURE (Chair).  
ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2159-4576>  
[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]



**minor rev24March2024 (2).zip**  
967K



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111.R2**1 pesan

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalfof@manuscriptcentral.com>24 Maret 2024 pukul  
12.16

Balas Ke: bmfh@ipecc-pub.co.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

24-Mar-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono:

Your manuscript entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review" has been successfully submitted online and is presently being given full consideration for publication in the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.

Your manuscript ID is BMFH-2023-111.R2.

Please mention the above manuscript ID in all future correspondence or when calling the office for questions. If there are any changes in your street address or e-mail address, please log in to Manuscript Central at <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh> and edit your user information as appropriate.

You can also view the status of your manuscript at any time by checking your Author Center after logging in to <https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmfh>.

Due to the continued spread of SARS-CoV-2, many of our Editors and Reviewers are facing increased pressures and disruption from the closure of universities and movement to online-teaching. As such, the peer review process may take slightly longer than usual. We appreciate your patience and understanding during this time.

Thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.

Sincerely,  
Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health Editorial Office

## Response to comments Reviewer #1

The manuscript has been revised according to my comments, but the following minor points need to be corrected.

We would like to thank the reviewer for positive evaluations of our manuscript. According to the reviewer's suggestions, we have revised point-by-point as described below:

1)line 238: *Lactobacillus plantarum* ---- *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum*  
We have revised according to reviewer's suggestion as written *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* in the yellow highlight

2)line 239: *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* ----- *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus*  
We have revised according to reviewer's suggestion as written *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* in the yellow highlight

3)line 258: bacterium Ellin 516 (italic type) ----- bacterium Ellin 516 (roman type)  
We have revised according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... bacterium Ellin 516 in the yellow highlight

4)line 327: phylum (italic type) ---- phylum (roman type)  
We have revised it according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... phylum in the yellow highlight

5)line 503: *akkermansia* (italic type) ----- *Akkermansia* (italic type)  
We have revised according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... *Akkermansia* in the yellow highlight

6)line 555: *akkermansia* (italic type) ----- *Akkermansia* (italic type), *bacteroides* (italic type) ----- *Bacteroides* (italic type)  
We have revised according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... *Akkermansia* and *Bacteroides* in the yellow highlight

7)line 567: *faecalibacterium* (italic type) ---- *Faecalibacterium* (italic type)  
We have revised it according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... *Faecalibacterium* in the yellow highlight

8)line 590: *firmicutes/bacteroidetes* (roman type) ----- *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* (roman type)  
We have revised according to the reviewer's suggestion as written ... *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* in the yellow highlight



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Decision on Manuscript ID BMFH-2023-111.R2**

1 pesan

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalf@manuscriptcentral.com>11 April 2024 pukul  
07.56

Balas Ke: skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

11-Apr-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono:

It is a pleasure to accept your manuscript entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review" in its current form for publication in the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health. The comments of the reviewer(s) who reviewed your manuscript are included at the foot of this letter.

Thank you for your fine contribution. On behalf of the Editors of the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, we look forward to your continued contributions to the Journal.

Sincerely,  
Dr. Shigeru Kamiya  
Editor in Chief, Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health  
[skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp](mailto:skamiya@ks.kyorin-u.ac.jp)

**[Editor's Comments]**

Editor

Comments to the Author:

After minor revision, the revised manuscript is now worth reporting in the journal.

**[Reviewer(s)' Comments]**

Reviewer: 1

Comments to the Author

The manuscript has been revised according to the comments from the referee. It is now acceptable for publication in the journal.



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Please prepare and submit your final data for BMFH-2023-111.R2**

2 pesan

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalf@manuscriptcentral.com>

18 April 2024 pukul 12.01

Balas Ke: bmfh@ipec-pub.co.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

18-Apr-2024

BMFH-2023-111.R2 - Intermittent Fasting Modulates the Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in Phenotype Dependent Manner: A Systematic Review

Dear Dr. Pramono:

Our native English proofreader has proofread your manuscript and the corrections and comments are as per attached.

Please check and correct where necessary and upload your corrected final version of your manuscript files. We will proceed to advance publication online on J-STAGE once we receive your final manuscript files.

You will find your manuscript in your author center under the list "Manuscripts Accepted for First Look".

Sincerely,

[bmfh@ipec-pub.co.jp](mailto:bmfh@ipec-pub.co.jp)

Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health

**BMFH-2023-111.docx**

255K

---

**Adriyan Pramono** <adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id>

21 April 2024 pukul 12.35

Kepada: Ferbian Milas Siswanto &lt;ferbian.siswanto@atmajaya.ac.id&gt;

Bcc: Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

Dear Dr. Ferbian

Bersama ini saya lampirkan final proof dari jurnal BMFH. Saya sudah editing sesuai input mereka.

Saya minta tolong dibantu final check oleh mas Ferbian. Terima kasih

Atas perhatian dan kerjasamanya saya mengucapkan terima kasih.

Salam,  
Adriyan

Adriyan Pramono, PhD.

Assistant Professor  
Department of Nutrition Science,  
Faculty of Medicine,  
Diponegoro University, Indonesia.  
Center of Nutrition Research/CENURE (Chair).  
ORCID: <https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2159-4576>

[Kutipan teks disembunyikan]

---

**2 lampiran**



**BMFH-2023-111.docx**

255K



**BMFH-2023-111\_edit final proof.docx**

246K

1 **Intermittent Fasting Modulates ~~the~~ Human Gut Microbiota**  
2 **Diversity in a Phenotype-Phenotype-Dependent-dependent**  
3 **Manner:**  
4 **A Systematic Review**

5  
6 **Adriyan Pramono<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Martha Ardiaria<sup>1,2</sup>, Edward Kurnia Setiawan Limijadi<sup>3</sup>, Etika Ratna**  
7 **Noer<sup>1,2</sup>, Endang Sri Lestari<sup>4</sup>, and Ferbian Milas Siswanto<sup>5</sup>**  
8

9 Affiliations:

10 <sup>1</sup>Department of Nutrition Science, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro, Semarang,  
11 Indonesia

12 <sup>2</sup>Center of Nutrition Research (CENURE), Nutrition and Metabolism Research Group

13 <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro, Semarang,  
14 Indonesia

15 <sup>4</sup>Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro,  
16 Semarang, Indonesia

17 <sup>5</sup>Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Atma  
18 Jaya Catholic University of Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia.

19  
20 \*Address to correspondence: Dr. Adriyan Pramono

21 Email: [adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id](mailto:adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id)  
22  
23

24 **Word count: 4739 (without abstract, tables, figures, and references)**  
25  
26



## ABSTRACT

Cumulative evidence suggests that intermittent fasting (IF) has beneficial effects on human metabolic health. It has been indicated that its impact on the gut microbiota may mediate these beneficial effects. As a result, we hypothesized that IF may impact the human gut microbiota. A systematic review was carried out following according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) protocol using ~~databases: the~~ PubMed, Scopus, and CINAHL ~~databases~~. We registered our systematic review protocol ~~on~~ ~~in~~ PROSPERO with ~~under~~ registration number CRD42021270050. Human intervention studies published until April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2023, were included. The quality of ~~the~~ included studies was assessed using National Institutes of Health (NIH) quality assessment study tools for intervention studies. The search in the database returned 166 studies, of which 13 matched all criteria for the final qualitative analysis. The body of evidence suggests that IF modulates human gut microbiota alpha and beta diversity in lean (relatively healthy) and relatively healthy overweight/obese individuals but not in individuals with metabolic syndrome. Furthermore, IF also alters human gut microbiota composition in all phenotypes. Of interest, the gut microbiota taxa or microbial metabolites after ~~an~~ IF intervention are associated with ~~the~~ metabolic markers. According to this review, IF influences the diversity and taxonomic levels of the human gut microbiota. Individual metabolic phenotypes may alter the effect of IF on the diversity and taxonomic levels of the gut microbiota.

**Key words:** intermittent fasting; gut microbiota; diversity; human; systematic review

## List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
ATP	Adenosine <del>Triphosphate</del> <del>triphosphate</del>
BMI	Body <del>Mass</del> <del>mass</del> <del>Index</del> <del>index</del>
BCAA	Brain-chain amino acids
DASH <del>Diet</del> <del>diet</del>	Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension <del>Diet</del> <del>diet</del>
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic <del>Acid</del> <del>acid</del>
HGC	High gene count
IF	Intermittent fasting
LGC	Low gene count

PICOS	Population, Intervention, Comparison/Control, Outcome, Study Design
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis
RCT	Randomized <del>Controlled-controlled-Trial</del> <u>trial</u>
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase <del>Chain—chain</del> <u>Reactionreaction</u>
SCFAs	Short-chain fatty acids
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TRF	Time-restricted feeding

## Introduction

The human body ~~is~~ has a distinctive form made up of human cells and microorganisms [1]. It has been shown that a complex ecological community of microbiomes co-exists with the human ecosystem [2]. Cumulative evidence suggests that the gut microbiome affects host physiology and metabolism [3]. The gut microbiota is an ecosystem that includes all bacterial species that colonize the gastrointestinal tract permanently, as well as a huge number of additional microorganisms from the environment [4]. Firmicutes (which contains primarily the *Clostridium*, *Enterococcus*, *Lactobacillus*, and *Faecalibacterium* genera) and Bacteroidetes (which includes notably the *Bacteroides* and *Prevotella* genera) dominate the gut microbiota of a healthy human adult. Actinobacteria (primarily *Bifidobacterium*), Proteobacteria, Verrucomicrobia, and Euryarchaeota are represented in lower numbers [5].

A review by Lynch and Pederson described how gut microbiome diversity has been linked to the health and diseases of the host [2]. ~~The~~ An in vivo animal model ~~in vivo, as well as, and~~ human studies, ~~supports~~ the link between the microbiome and metabolic diseases, such as obesity [6], type 2 diabetes (T2D) [7], insulin resistance [8], and hypertension [9]. The gut microbiota may influence host metabolism through a variety of mechanisms. ~~Among~~ These mechanisms include the synthesis of microbial metabolites of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) [10] and the balance between the gut microbiota and immune system [11]. ~~Another~~ Other examples ~~is~~ include the role of the gut microbiota in the synthesis of micronutrients ~~synthesis~~ such as vitamins, which are of great value for both microbial and host metabolisms, and its essential role in the co-metabolism of bile acids with the host [12].

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

71 The normal gut microbiota performs particular functions in host nutrition metabolism,  
 72 xenobiotic and drug metabolism, gut mucosal barrier structural integrity, immunomodulation,  
 73 and pathogen defense. A number of factors influence the normal gut microbiome. These  
 74 include (1) mode of delivery (vaginal or caesarean), (2) food throughout infancy (breast milk  
 75 or formula feeds), and (3) use of antibiotics or antibiotic-like compounds originating from the  
 76 environment or the gut commensal community [13]. It has been proposed that a greater  
 77 composition, diversity, and functionality [14] of species associated with the production of  
 78 SCFAs [10] (e.g., *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Bacteroides* spp., *Bifidobacterium* spp.) are  
 79 perhaps the hallmarks of a microbial community associated with better health outcomes.  
 80 However, peptide and protein fermentation in the gut (proteolytic fermentation) may produce  
 81 primarily toxic chemicals, such as ammonia, phenols, and branched-chain fatty acids. These  
 82 may be harmful to the host's digestive and metabolic health [10].  
 83 A comprehensive review by Singh et al. has indicated the effects of dietary intake/components  
 84 on the gut microbiome [15]. In addition, there has been a growing interest in identifying  
 85 alternative dietary modifications that involve restricting energy intake to specific periods of the  
 86 day or prolonging the fasting interval between meals, called intermittent fasting (IF) [16, 17].  
 87 Time-restricted feeding (TRF), a type of IF, is the only eating pattern that does not necessitate  
 88 calorie restriction [17]. Regarding TRF, religious fasting, which can be found in several religions  
 89 (e.g., Ramadan fasting within Islam, which has been recognized for its similarities to the TRF),  
 90 could also be considered a form of TRF [18].  
 91 IF is one of the diet regimens that may also promote fat mass loss, reduce body weight, and  
 92 improve metabolic health [19]. The modulation of the gut microbiota may mediate these  
 93 beneficial effects. Fasting. There is evidence (primarily from rat models) suggesting that fasting  
 94 appears to affect the gut microbiome, according to evidence (primarily from rat models) [20-  
 95 23]. Given the apparent role of IF and the microbiome in human metabolic health, we assumed  
 96 that IF influences the diversity and (relative) abundance of distinct bacterial taxa in the human  
 97 gut microbiota, as well as their functionality, in humans.

98  
 99 **Material and Methods**  
 100 This systematic review follows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and  
 101 Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines [24] and is registered in the PROSPERO database under  
 102 registration number **CRD42021270050**.

103 **Search strategy**  
 104 Three electronic databases (PubMed, Scopus, and CINAHL) were screened for original  
 105 articles published up to December 31<sup>st</sup>, 2021 (updated on April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2023), using the following  
 106 main keywords: "intermittent fasting," "Ramadan fasting," "time-restricted feeding," "time-  
 107 restricted eating," "time-restricted fasting," "gut microbiome," "gut microbiota," "gut microflora,"

**Commented [SB1]:** Here is an alternative phrasing that avoids the use of the abbreviation e.g.:  
 such as *Faecalibacterium*

**Commented [SB2]:** Here is an alternative phrasing that avoids the use of the abbreviation e.g.:  
 such as Ramadan

**Commented [SB3]:** Here are some alternative word choices for this:  
 theorized  
 OR  
 hypothesized  
 OR  
 inferred  
 OR  
 speculated  
 OR  
 surmised

and "gut bacteria." These keywords were combined using the Boolean operators AND, and OR, and constructed for each database. The specific combinations of keywords used for the searches in each database is are listed in Supplemental Table S1. In addition, relevant titles articles from previously published reviews will be reviewed under each the subject category/categories below. Only articles published in English were eligible. The reference lists of the established previous reviews and articles were further checked for additional articles.

#### Study selection, inclusion, and exclusion

The PICOS (Population, Intervention, Comparison/Control, Outcome, Study Design) framework was used to develop inclusion criteria. Population-The population (P) included in this study were comprised adults ( $\geq 18$  years) with no specific criteria for body mass index (BMI) (in kg/m<sup>2</sup>). The intervention (I) consists of was any types of IF as described by Petterson and Sears [25] (including complete alternate-day fasting, modified fasting regimens, time-restricted feeding, religious fasting, Ramadan fasting, and other religious fasting). No minimum intervention duration criterion was applied. The primary outcome (O) was a measure of the gut microbiome, including (but not limited to): alpha diversity (a measure of variability within a sample); beta diversity (a measure of between-sample variability in microbial composition); species richness; any prevalence or (relative) abundance of bacterial taxa; Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio; and functions of the gut microbiome. The secondary outcome was gut microbiota metabolites.

We only included human studies that were published in an English-language, peer-reviewed journal. Electronic items were permitted ahead of print. Reviews, editorials, letters, and comments were not considered due to the fact that they lacked original data. Conference abstracts and protocols were also omitted, as they had not undergone the same level of peer review as full-text articles. Two authors (AP and MA) separately assessed abstracts and complete texts for eligibility, with any doubts about eligibility discussed among the authors.

#### Data extraction and synthesis

Two authors (AP and MA) extracted data using standardized forms, including study characteristics, PICOS details, biological specimen(s) and techniques used to assess the microbiome, and all intervention-outcome effects measures. The characteristics of each included articles, such as references, study design, ethnicity, and the number of participants, were included in the intervention and control groups. Furthermore, the details included patient characteristics (age, BMI, % female, comorbidities), descriptions of the intervention (type of IF and duration), comparison, and settings (laboratory or free-living). Other details included outcomes (the primary outcome was gut microbiome diversity and composition; the secondary outcome was gut microbiota-derived metabolites) and duration of follow-up.

#### Quality assessment

Commented [SB4]: The word *titles* could just mean the titles of the review articles. I revised this to *articles* to refer to the content of the articles rather than just their titles.

The authors applied a previously reported tool created by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute in the United States ~~(US)~~ to assess ~~the a~~ study's quality. This original assessment form was adopted ~~since because~~ it has previously been utilized in controlled trials and single-group intervention studies [26]. Four assessment items represented fatal flaws if ~~the answers~~ for the following criteria wereed "Neno/~~N~~ot reported/~~Can't can't~~ determine"~~for these following~~ criteria: 1-) ~~R~~andomization; ~~2-) Dropout-dropout~~ rate of less than 20%; ~~3-) Validvalid~~ reliable outcome measures, and 4) intent-to-treat analysis in random/cross-over trials. For single-group interventions, the criteria were 1-) ~~Eligibility-eligibility~~ criteria pre-specified; ~~2-) Adequate~~ sample size; ~~3-) V~~valid/reliable outcome measures; and 4-) ~~D~~dropout rate of less than 20% or intent-to-treat analysis. ~~Global-A global~~ rating was determined based on the number of fatal flaws: good quality (0 fatal flaws), acceptable quality (1 fatal flaw), or poor quality ( $\geq 2$  fatal flaws). Quality assessment was conducted independently by two reviewers (AP and MA). Any disagreement between the reviewers was resolved through discussion (with ~~the~~ third author, EKSL).

## Results

### Characteristics of the included studies

**Figure 1** shows an article identification, screening, and final selection flow chart. The search identified 166 unique publications. Following the removal of articles with duplicate titles and full-text screening, the authors included 13 studies [27-39] in this systematic review. The characteristics of the included studies are summarized in **Table 1**.

**Table 1** shows the characteristics of the included studies concerning the populations/participants, age, nutritional status (e.g., ~~body mass index/BMI~~), sex, sample size, type of fasting interventions, duration, and ~~the~~ methodology used to ~~determine~~ perform the gut microbiome analysis. Eight studies enrolled healthy participants [27-30, 33, 34, 36, 37], three studies were performed on overweight or obese people [31, 32, 38], and two studies enrolled individuals with metabolic syndrome [35, 39]. Several types of IF were used in the included studies. Four studies [32, 35, 38, 39] used an IF with or without modification, such as ~~for example, when paireding it with the a~~ Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) ~~D~~iet. Furthermore, five ~~research-studies~~ [28, 33, 34, 36, 37] evaluated the effects of Ramadan fasting on the gut microbiota, while one study [25] investigated the effect of Buchinger fasting on the gut microbiota [27]. Other studies ~~have~~ reported the effect of TRF only (2 studies; [30, 31]). The durations of the interventions in the included trials ranged from 7 days to one and a half years [27-39]. ~~The m~~Microbiome characteristics were reported in all of these studies, including ~~the~~ diversity, changes, or both ~~in-at the genera~~ us, phylum, and species levels. A few studies also reported on the impact of fasting on the levels of gut microbiota metabolites such as ~~short chain fatty acid (SCFAs) levels~~.

**Commented [SB5]:** Here is an alternative phrasing that avoids the use of the abbreviation e.g.:

such as BMI

## Qualitative analysis of the effects of fasting on the gut microbiota

### The Effect of IF on the gut microbiota's alpha-beta diversity

In general, the majority of the included studies (8 out of 13) found significant differences in microbial diversity between baseline and after their interventions (key findings are shown in Table 2). Two studies did not analyze gut microbiota diversity in their research. Meanwhile, three other studies found no changes in microbial diversity following IF regimens. Changes in microbial diversity (alpha and beta diversity) were detected after Ramadan fasting [33, 34, 36] and IF/TRF [27, 29, 30, 32, 38].

### The Comparison of the effect of IF on the gut microbiota diversity between metabolic phenotypes

The investigations with lean (relatively healthy) and overweight or obese participants demonstrated consistent changes in beta diversity, as described in Table 3. In terms of alpha diversity change, inconsistent results were obtained for both lean (relatively healthy) and overweight or obese people revealed inconsistent results. Two fasting studies (Mesnage et al. [27] and Ozkull et al. [33]), reported no change in alpha diversity. It could be that these two studies performed their fasting interventions in individuals with similar characteristics to the population with regards to dietary patterns and that they have had already gotten used to these the types of IF that were used.

Surprisingly, we did not see any alpha or beta diversity changes after IF interventions in adult individuals with metabolic syndrome. These findings may imply that the metabolic phenotype of the individuals influences the outcome of the for gut microbiota diversity due to after IF.

### The Effect of IF on the gut microbiota composition

Thirteen The 13 included human intervention studies have shown that fasting altered the gut microbiota at the phylum, genus, or species levels. Details of the outcomes of interest are reported in Table 3. There is clear evidence showing that any fasting intervention can modulated the bacterial community composition. The majority of the studies reported that Firmicutes is upregulated following a fasting intervention. Mesnage et al. showed that ten days of Buchinger fasting resulted in a decreased abundance of Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae [27]. However, an increase in Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria was observed in that study [27]. Ozkul et al. reported that Firmicutes, Akkermansia muciniphila, and Bacteroides fragilis were significantly increased after Ramadan fasting [28] in Caucasians. In another study, Ozkul et al. reported similar findings compared to with their previous findings [33]. Furthermore, they showed that Firmicutes had a relatively higher abundance than Bacteroidetes after Ramadan fasting. In addition, they found that Butyricococcus pullicaecorum, F. prausnitzii, and Roseburia were the primary species that were significantly increased within the Firmicutes phylum after Ramadan fasting in Caucasian volunteers [33].

Commented [SB6]: Here is an alternative phrasing for this:

Effect of IF on the gut microbiota diversity according to metabolic phenotype

Commented [SB7]: What is meant by "the population" seems unclear here. Here is an alternative phrasing that assumes it refers to the study subjects having similar characteristics to the general population:

characteristics similar to those of the general population with regard to dietary patterns

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Commented [SB8]: Roseburia seems inconsistent with the use of primary species in this phrase. Here are a couple alternative phrasings for it:

Butyricococcus pullicaecorum, F. prausnitzii, and Roseburia species were the primary species that were significantly increased within the Firmicutes phylum OR the primary species and genus that were significantly increased within the Firmicutes phylum were Butyricococcus pullicaecorum, F. prausnitzii, and Roseburia

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

217 Changes in ~~the~~ dietary patterns during fasting have been suggested to shape the gut  
 218 microbiota diversity and abundance. However, some, but not all, types of fasting, do not rule  
 219 out the possibility that ~~the~~ dietary patterns may not be changed. For example, Ramadan fasting  
 220 is a type of IF that requires refraining from food and drink from dawn to sunset. Another method  
 221 of IF is to limit mealtimes to 8 hours followed by 16 hours of fasting ~~time~~ [30]. The beta-diversity  
 222 of the gut microbiota in the present review study showed consistent changes between ~~these~~  
 223 two types of IF; primarily, the Firmicutes phylum, which were increased significantly in  
 224 Ramadan fasting interventions [28, 33, 34, 36, 37] followed by an increase in *Lachnospiraceae*,  
 225 *Ruminococcaceae*, *B. pullicaecorum*, *F. prausnitzii*, *Roseburia* (5), and an increase in *A.*  
 226 *muacieniphila* [28, 33].  
 227 Su et al. reported similar findings, ~~where with~~ the phylum Firmicutes ~~was~~ upregulated and  
 228 the phylum Bacteroides, especially the family Prevotellaceae, ~~were~~ reduced following  
 229 Ramadan fasting to a similar extent between young and middle-aged volunteers [34].  
 230 According to Ali et al., the abundance of Bacteroidetes decreased after fasting during  
 231 Ramadan in Chinese people, while the abundance of Proteobacteria increased ~~after fasting~~  
 232 during Ramadan in Chinese people [36]. In contrast, in Pakistani individuals, the abundance  
 233 of Bacteroidetes increased after Ramadan fasting, whereas ~~that of~~ Firmicutes decreased ~~after~~  
 234 Ramadan fasting [36]. Similar results have been shown for a Buchinger's fasting intervention  
 235 [27]. ~~Another in another~~ Ramadhan fasting study, ~~by~~ Mohammadzadeh et al. showed that  
 236 Bacteroides and Firmicutes were significantly increased during Ramadan fasting [37]. Overall,  
 237 in this systematic review, we found consistent results about the effects of Ramadan fasting on  
 238 gut microbiota composition. Ramadan fasting influences the gut microbiota composition in lean  
 239 (relatively healthy) or overweight/obese individuals. However, the change in gut microbiota  
 240 composition after Ramadan may also be influenced by the distinct dietary patterns of each  
 241 ethnicity, at least as indicated by Ali et al. [36].  
 242 A modified IF (water-only fasting vs. juice-only fasting) ~~indicated suggested~~ that water-only  
 243 fasting dramatically changed the bacterial community. Individually, the relative abundance of  
 244 *Fusobacterium* was reduced in four participants who harbored higher *Fusobacterium* prior to  
 245 fasting compared ~~to with~~ the other two participants. Post-IF, *Fusobacterium* ~~remains~~ remained  
 246 consistently low across all six individuals [29]. A pilot study of IF combined with laxative  
 247 treatment for four weeks and probiotic treatment using capsules containing *Lactiplantibacillus*  
 248 *plantarum*, *Streptococcus thermophiles*, *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Lactocaseibacillus*  
 249 *ramnosus*, *Bifidobacterium lactis*, *Bifidobacterium longum*, and *Bifidobacterium breve* for six  
 250 weeks found that the abundances of *Bifidobacterium* and *Akkermansia* ~~was were~~ significantly  
 251 increased, but that the abundances of *Clostridium* cluster IV, *Clostridium* cluster XIVa,  
 252 Bacteroidetes, and *Prevotella* ~~was were not~~ unchanged [32]. These findings suggest that both

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Commented [SB9]: The intended meaning of this is unclear, and it is ungrammatical in its current form. Also, it is unclear what is meant to be conveyed by the 5 after *Roseburia*. Here is an alternative phrasing that I thought might make sense for this, assuming that the 5 represents a reference citation:

IF, primarily in the Firmicutes phylum, which showed significant increases in Ramadan fasting interventions [28, 33, 34, 36, 37], but also in *Lachnospiraceae*, *Ruminococcaceae*, *B. pullicaecorum*, *F. prausnitzii*, *Roseburia*, and *A. muciniphila*, all of which also showed increases [5, 28, 33]

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic



253 medications (i.e., a laxative ~~treatment or~~ and a specific food type, (i.e., a probiotic)) may have  
254 distinct effects on the IF-related gut microbiota composition.

255 ~~Furthermore,~~ There were also substantial differences in the microbial composition within  
256 individuals during IF combined with a type of diet (~~i.e., the~~ DASH diet), reflecting a  
257 characteristic of intervention-induced shift, ~~which later with~~ partially ~~reverted~~ ed following a 3-  
258 month refeeding period on a DASH diet. There was a significant shift in Firmicutes shifted  
259 significantly in abundance, with an initial decrease in *F. prausnitzii*, *Eubacterium rectale*, and  
260 *Coprococcus*, ~~which further that subsequently~~ reverted after three months [35]. In a study  
261 that combined IF and lifestyle changes for three months, there were resulted in fluctuations in  
262 five bacterial genera ~~fluctuations~~ (*Subdoligranulum*, *Collinsella*, *Parabacteroides*, *Alistipes*,  
263 and *Bacteroides*). *Subdoligranulum* and *Collinsella* decreased in relative abundance, while the  
264 other three taxa increased. In that study, the baseline and three-month abundances were  
265 dominated by the phyla Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes [38]. Another IF intervention [39] in  
266 different ethnic groups was shown to increase the relative abundances of *Ruminococcus*  
267 *gnavus*, *Chitinophagaceae* bacterium, *Roseburia faecis*, *Paraburkholderia caribensis*,  
268 *Verrucomicrobiae* bacterium Ellin516, *Neisseria dentiae*, and *Streptococcus ferus* [39].

269 Zeb et al. found that 34 bacteria were enriched at the genus level following a TRF intervention  
270 (8 hours per day for 25 days) [30]. *Prevotellaceae* (*Prevotella\_9* and *Prevotella\_2*) and  
271 Bacteroidetes dominated the TRF group, while *Escherichia*, *Shigella*, and *Peptostreptococcus*  
272 were abundant ~~in at~~ the genus level in the non-TRF group [30]. In contrast, there was no  
273 significant alteration in the abundances s of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes after 12 weeks of TRF,  
274 despite Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes being the two most common phyla ~~of the~~ based on total  
275 abundance at baseline, ~~which were~~ with abundance ratios of 61.2% and 26.9%, respectively  
276 [31].

277 **Qualitative analysis of the relationship between the gut microbiota or its metabolites**  
278 **and metabolic health in humans**

279 This review also identified how the gut microbiota and its metabolites may be associated with  
280 metabolic health ~~from based on~~ the included studies. A Buchinger fasting study [27] showed  
281 that SCFA levels were ~~not un~~changed during fasting. However, the levels of serum brain-chain  
282 amino acids ( BCAAs) were significantly increased during fasting and ~~were~~ significantly  
283 ~~declined decreased~~ after fasting. Interestingly, the abundance of *Lachnospiraceae*  
284 (*Coprococcus\_2 eutactus*, *Fuscatenibacter saccharivorans*, and *Lachnospira pectinoschiza*)  
285 was positively associated with plasma glucose levels and ~~was~~ negatively associated with  
286 BCAA levels. In contrast, Bacteroidetes (*Bacteroides dorei/fragilis* and *Bacteroides*  
287 *thetaiotaomicron*), ~~as well as and~~ a Proteobacteria (*Bilophila wadsworthia*), presented the  
288 opposite trend and were negatively and positively associated with plasma glucose levels and  
289 BCAA levels, respectively [27]. Ozkul et al. reported that they did not find any association

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic



between bacterial composition and fasting glucose except for a negative correlation between *A. muciniphila* counts and fasting glucose ~~determined~~ after Ramadan fasting [28]. Ramadan fasting has been shown to upregulate bacterial butyrate producers [34, 36, 37]. More interestingly, at functional levels, Su et al. demonstrated that 29 pathways were present in the young individuals at the end of Ramadan fasting when contrasted with the pathways present at the start of fasting, whilst 14 pathways were present in their middle-aged cohort ~~at the end of Ramadan fasting when contrasted to pathways present at the start of fasting~~ [34]. The majority of the pathways presented were associated with host metabolism, genomics, and molecular signaling [34]. These findings indicate that any type of IF (i.e., Buchinger or Ramadan) ~~has modulated~~ the gut microbiota-derived metabolites, either SCFAs or BCAA. The duration of IF might differentially affect how ~~the~~ gut microbiota-derived metabolites are regulated, especially in those individuals who are overweight or obese.

In addition, ~~the study by~~ Maifeld et al. showed that IF upregulates butyrate and propionate bacterial producers [35]. Moreover, they showed that in subjects with metabolic syndrome, ~~the~~ modulation of the gut microbiota composition, such as modulation of *E. rectale*, *Dorea longicatena*, and *Hungatella hathewayi* (acetate producers), was negatively correlated with IL-2-producing CD4+ T cells, and the absolute number of IFNgamma+ and TNFalpha-producing mucosal-associated invariant T<sub>s</sub> (MAIT<sub>s</sub>) cells, respectively [35]. Similarly, Guo et al. ~~have shown~~ showed that total plasma SCFAs in individuals with metabolic syndrome ~~was~~ are significantly increased after IF [39]. ~~The~~ This elevation remains significant after being adjusted for baseline SCFA levels [39]. More interestingly, based on the KEGG pathways, after eight weeks of IF, the altered gut microbiota was involved in "genetic information processing", "environmental information processing", and "metabolism" after eight weeks of IF based on KEGG pathways. They also found a relationship between the abundances of twenty-three significantly altered gut microbial species and glucose metabolism, lipid profiles, and inflammatory cytokines, independent of weight loss. For instance, *Acidobacteria bacterium* and *Mitsuokella jalaludinii* showed the strongest positive association with ~~Homeostatic~~ homeostatic ~~Model~~ model ~~Assessment~~ assessment for ~~Insulin~~ insulin ~~Resistance~~ resistance (HOMA-IR), whereas *N. dentiae* was negatively related to serum glucose.

#### ~~The~~ Quality of the included studies

Of the 13 included studies identified as relevant for this review, the methodological quality of one was rated as good; ten were classified as fair, and two were placed as poor. Regarding the prominent flaws, ten studies did not use randomized controlled designs; ~~two~~ two studies presented dropout rates above 20%, and ~~twelve~~ 12 studies did not perform an intent-to-treat analysis (**Supplemental Table S2**).

## Discussion

Commented [SB10]: Should this be plural (BCAAs)?

327 Our systematic review found consistent effects of IF on the human gut microbiota, both on  
 328 alpha and beta diversity. More interestingly, the alpha or beta diversity changes were different  
 329 based on human metabolic phenotypes. There ~~is was a~~ constant shift in the alpha and beta  
 330 diversity of the gut microbiome in lean participants (relatively healthy individuals), but not in  
 331 adult ~~overweight/obese~~ participants with ~~overweight/obesity and~~ metabolic syndrome. Despite  
 332 our findings ~~that indicateing that~~ IF influences gut microbiota diversity, we were unable to draw  
 333 conclusions about the effect of IF on specific taxa (gut microbiota composition).  
 334 The variability in the studied populations (e.g., relatively healthy, overweight or obese, and  
 335 metabolic syndrome ~~populations~~), the durations of the interventions, the types of IF, the study  
 336 designs, the methods used to assess the composition of the gut microbiome, and the data  
 337 ~~analysis-analyses~~ all played a-roles in the synthesis of the results. Furthermore, ~~hypervariable~~  
 338 ~~region analyses and sequencing platforms~~ might have contributed to the ~~taxa's~~ variances in  
 339 the abundances of taxa. Two studies [29 and 38] did not provide alpha and beta diversity  
 340 measurements as primary results; however, ~~there were~~ primary species that were significantly  
 341 elevated (*B. pullicaecorum*, *F. prausnitzii*, *Roseburia species*) ~~were within from the Firmicutes~~  
 342 ~~phylum~~ following Ramadan fasting. According to both reports, *Bacteroides* spp. (*Bacteroidetes*  
 343 ~~phylum~~) were substantially more prevalent as compared ~~to with the~~ baseline levels.  
 344 Some of the included studies ~~have~~ also analyzed the association between changes in specific  
 345 taxa after fasting and/or ~~its~~their metabolites with metabolic health parameters related to  
 346 glucose metabolism, lipid metabolism, insulin sensitivity, and inflammation. Despite  
 347 heterogeneity in the individual taxa studied, there is a link between the gut microbiota after  
 348 fasting and metabolic health indices throughout Ramadan fasting. Adjustments for  
 349 confounding, including the baseline values, were ~~conducted-made~~ in all trials, with only a few  
 350 studies adjusting for a limited number of confounders. Although the differences in taxonomic  
 351 composition and functional potential varied across the studies, Firmicutes and ~~Bacteroidetes~~  
 352 ~~Bacteroidetes~~ were amongst the most consistently reported, and were either upregulated or  
 353 downregulated after fasting. In adults, it has been shown that Firmicutes largely dominate the  
 354 gut microbiota, followed by Bacteroidetes [36]. Some studies in humans have shown that the  
 355 gut microbiota of obese individuals exhibits a higher Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio than that  
 356 of normal-weight individuals, and ~~proposing-proposed~~ this ratio as an eventual biomarker. As  
 357 a result, the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio is frequently cited in the scientific literature as a  
 358 marker of obesity [40], although the underlying mechanisms remain unclear.  
 359 ~~Changes-The changes~~ in microbiota diversity in healthy subjects with lean (relatively healthy)  
 360 bodies were consistently higher than those ~~of-in~~ overweight or obese subjects with metabolic  
 361 syndrome conditions. ~~Another-A previous~~ systematic review showed that the baseline of the  
 362 microbiota in obese individuals consists of a low abundance of *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*  
 363 [41], *F. prausnitzii*, *A. muciniphila*, and increased *Prevotella* [42]. This may partly be

Commented [SB11]: Here is an alternative phrasing  
 that avoids the use of the abbreviation e.g.:  
 such as relatively

Commented [SB12]: Here is an alternative phrasing  
 based on the intended meaning here being differences  
 in the analyses and platforms between the studies  
 included:  
 differences in the sequencing platforms and analyses  
 of hypervariable regions

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Commented [SB13]: I revised this based on the earlier  
 similar text in the manuscript.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Commented [SB14]: This phrasing is ungrammatical  
 and does not make sense. The text as written here  
 attributes all the information to the systematic  
 review, but two studies are cited, and only one  
 appears to be the mentioned systematic review. Here  
 are some alternative phrasings that I thought might  
 be possible for it:

It has previously been shown that the baseline  
 microbiota in obese individuals has low abundances  
 of *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*, *F. prausnitzii*, and  
*A. muciniphila* and an increased abundance of  
*Prevotella* [41, 42].  
 OR  
 In their systematic review, Crovesy, Masterson, and  
 Rosado found low abundances of *Lactobacillus* and  
*Bifidobacterium* in obese individuals at baseline [41].  
 Duan et al. further found low abundances of *F.*  
*prausnitzii* and *A. muciniphila* and an increased  
 abundance of *Prevotella* in obese individuals at  
 baseline [42].

364 explained by a high fat-carbohydrate diet and low fiber intake in individuals with obesity [43].  
 365 Lozupone et al. A study showed that consuming carbohydrate- or fat-restricted low-calorie diets  
 366 for 1 year or high-fat/low-fiber or low-fat/high-fiber diets for 10 days induces statistically  
 367 significant changes in the gut microbiota [44]. These baseline gut microbiota characteristics  
 368 may explain the different responses in individuals with metabolic syndrome [35, 39] than in  
 369 overweight or obese individuals [31, 32, 38] and healthy individuals after intermittent fasting  
 370 [27-30, 33, 34, 36, 37].

371 A study of the gut microbiota and its function in obese and non-obese people has led to the  
 372 idea of a high gene count (HGC) and low gene count (LGC), both of which have physiological  
 373 and pathological implications. The defining characteristics of the an HGC microbiome in favor  
 374 of digestive health include an increased number of butyrate-producing species, an increased  
 375 proclivity for hydrogen production, the establishment of a methanogenic/acetogenic  
 376 ecosystem, and a decrease in hydrogen sulfide production. Individuals with an HGC have a  
 377 more functionally robust gut microbiome as well as a decreased prevalence of metabolic  
 378 diseases and obesity. LGC individuals, on the other hand, have a larger number of pro-  
 379 inflammatory bacteria, such as *Bacteroides* and *R. gnavus*. Furthermore, a few of the main  
 380 bacterial metabolites in LGC individuals include modules for glucuronide degradation, aromatic  
 381 amino acid degradation, and dissimilatory nitrite reduction, all of which are known to be  
 382 hazardous [13, 45].

383 Several mechanisms may explain how IF influences the gut microbiota composition and  
 384 metabolic health. During fasting, there is an increase in intestinal pH, there are changes in  
 385 mucus production, and there is a decrease in intestinal capacity [46], which that could affect  
 386 the microbial ecosystem. Furthermore, fasting also impacts changes in circadian rhythms via  
 387 interactions between changes in the gut microbiota composition and gut-derived metabolites  
 388 as signaling molecules to the peripheral and central clocks of the host [47]. Of interest is the  
 389 interaction between circadian rhythms and gut microbes, which are intertwined via metabolic  
 390 regulation, but the mechanisms that underlie their interactions are still not fully understood [48].  
 391 The dispositions and functions of microbes can fluctuate within a few hours depending on the  
 392 timing of the a meal, which links the circadian rhythm of the host's behavior with diurnal  
 393 fluctuations in the composition and function of the microbiota [49].

394 Furthermore, the beneficial effects of fasting may also be partly explained by an increase in fat  
 395 oxidation during fasting. It is well established that the rate of carbohydrate utilization is  
 396 decreased in the fasted state and that the increased rate of fat oxidation meets the energy  
 397 demand ([36]). On the other hand, it is also possible that the SCFAs produced by the gut  
 398 microbiota might be used as a substrate (especially acetate in the overweight/obese  
 399 phenotype) for host energy metabolism [50]. Next to these In addition to this, intermittent fasting  
 400 may also improve insulin regulation, resulting in a the maintained maintenance of glucose

**Commented [SB15]:** The meaning of this seems unclear. Here is an alternative phrasing that I thought possible for it:

gut-derived metabolites, which act as signaling molecules for the peripheral and central clocks

**Commented [SB16]:** Here is an alternative phrasing that I thought might make sense for this:

rate of fat oxidation increases to meet energy demands

metabolism, especially in overweight or obese individuals [51]. More interestingly, intermittent fasting may also activate the central metabolic regulation of ~~Sirtuins~~sirtuins, particularly SIRT1 and SIRT3. ~~The activation of Sirtuins-sirtuins by fasting can further exhibit their effects on insulin response, antioxidant defense, and glycolysis [52].~~ A recent review suggests that the effects of fasting on metabolism can be closely associated with alterations in the gut microbiota composition [53].

~~A-In their recent meta-analysis, hasEjtahed et al.~~ identified taxa associated with multiple diseases, including obesity [54]. In this review, the dominance of ~~Firmicutes~~ enrichment as an outcome after IF may be partly associated with an increase in endogenous substrates over a long fasting period [33]. In fact, fasting has been shown to increase endogenous SCFA production as an energy substrate for host metabolism [55], ~~supported by an abundance of B. pullicaecorum-producing bacterial species of F. prausnitzii~~ [32, 33]. Furthermore, the ~~quantity abundances~~ of the *Akkermansia* group and ~~Verrucomicrobia~~ phylum also consistently rises after fasting. The ability to dissolve mucin and the inherent features of the mucus layer might cause ~~A. muciniphila~~ to be resistant to environmental changes during fasting, therefore enriching the species group, ~~whichthat~~ includes *A. muciniphila*. This species is essential for the proper functioning of intestinal barriers, and its presence defines a healthy gut profile [56, 57].—

~~During fasting,The~~ metabolic changes ~~during fasting~~ include the dominant use of fatty acids as fuel for ~~the-synthesizing-of~~ adenosine triphosphate (ATP), reducing ~~the~~ fat mass, increasing functional capacity, and altering glucose homeostasis [58]. The negative correlation of ~~A. muciniphila~~ ~~to-with~~ fasting glucose levels reinforces the positive effects on glucose regulation after Ramadan fasting [28]. Ramadan fasting also significantly increases butyrate, which can reduce the adverse effects of lipopolysaccharides and simultaneously increase the regulation of intestinal barrier function by stimulating mucin production [59]. In addition, butyrate also plays a role in the activation of G-protein receptors (GPR41 and GPR43) in the colon, stimulating the production of the hormone peptide YY (PYY) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), which further affects glucose homeostasis [60].

In several studies, ~~Bacteroidetes~~ were significantly increased after fasting. A possible mechanism ~~of-for~~ ~~Bacteroidetes~~ elevation after fasting can be partly explained by ~~the consuming-consumption of~~ vegetables and fruits in the diet [61], as shown in the Buchinger and Ramadan fasting studies [27, 28, 37]. Furthermore, the rapid tolerance/adaptation to the host environment during fasting ~~may-might also~~ explain the higher ~~number-abundance~~ of ~~Bacteroidetes~~ following fasting. Another ~~reason-possible explanation~~ is its special ability to ~~replace-shift to a~~ transcription profile with glycan derivatives when polysaccharide and glycoprotein supplies are depleted due to extended fasting [62]. Interestingly, both Buchinger and Ramadan fasting interventions gave consistent results in ~~terms of~~ the elevation of *F.*

**Commented [SB17]:** This is grammatical, but the phrasing seems odd. Specifically, this part: "The activation of sirtuins by fasting can further exhibit their effects..." Here are a couple of alternative phrasings that I thought might convey what was intended:

The activation of sirtuins by fasting can trigger further effects of them on the insulin response, antioxidant defense, and glycolysis [52].  
OR  
The activation of sirtuins by fasting allows them to exhibit effects on the insulin response, antioxidant defense, and glycolysis [52].

**Formatted:** Font: Not Italic

**Commented [SB18]:** The intended meaning of this is unclear. Here is an alternative phrasing that I thought might make sense for this:

which is supported by the abundances of the butyrate-producing bacterial species *B. pullicaecorum* and *F. prausnitzii*

**Formatted:** Font: Not Italic

**Formatted:** Font: Not Italic

**Formatted:** Font: Not Italic

**Formatted:** Font: Not Italic

438 *prausnitzii* (the dominant acetate producer of *Clostridium* cluster IV). Despite the fact that the  
439 composition of the gut microbiota varied across all investigations, the alterations in the  
440 microbiota composition ~~can~~could reduce plasma lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and  
441 increase butyrate-producing bacteria.

442 ~~In~~For several types of fasting, including IF (Ramadan, time-restricted fasting), ~~the~~a calorie-  
443 restriction fasting regimen ~~gives~~provides an overview of the abundance and diversity shift of  
444 the gut microbiota taxonomy. However, there is a wide range of outcomes among them. ~~In a~~  
445 TRF intervention, is another ~~a~~ different type of IF regimen was used in which participants were  
446 provided food ad libitum ~~feed~~ from 10:00 to 18:00 and fasted from 18:00 to 10:00 daily. There  
447 were no restrictions on the types or quantities of meals ingested throughout the eating window  
448 (8 hours), and participants were not required to track their calorie consumption. The results  
449 showed no significant association between the diversity ~~and~~or abundance of the gut  
450 microbiota ~~with~~and weight loss after TRF treatment for 12 weeks [31]. Those results differed  
451 from IF interventions (modified fasting with calorie restriction) in obese-metabolic syndrome  
452 individuals, in which ~~the~~ BMI and waist circumference were significantly reduced [39].  
453 However, the latter also demonstrated that the link between gut microbiota composition and  
454 metabolic improvement depended on body weight change [39]. Several of the included studies  
455 [27, 34, 35, 39] indicate an independent association between the gut microbiota and many  
456 metabolism pathways, at least in relatively healthy individuals. On the other hand, changes in  
457 mealtime during Ramadan fasting could affect the human natural circadian rhythm, which  
458 might also have a detrimental effect on health, ~~which~~and this needs further investigation to  
459 clarify.

460 This systematic review has both strengths and limitations. The strengths of our systematic  
461 reviews are ~~that~~ 1-) that ~~We~~ included human intervention studies that addressed the most  
462 frequent modalities of intermittent fasting accessible in the field; and 2-) that we reported the  
463 change in diversity and composition of the gut microbiota in great detail. However, there are  
464 numerous limitations of this review: including 1-) ~~The~~the small number of included studies  
465 from which we were able to extract data; and 2-) ~~our~~the broadness of our population eligibility  
466 criteria ~~were broad~~ (healthy, overweight/obese, and metabolic syndrome); ~~Therefore~~the, the  
467 results could not be generalized. Another systematic study focusing on specific types of fasting  
468 and strict eligibility criteria (i.e., specific demographics) is warranted.

469 A meta-analysis would be ideal for this systematic review, but the variety of microbiota  
470 measures, particularly regional differences, could lead to difficulty. With this consideration,  
471 presumably, studies examining the effect of fasting on the gut microbiome could adhere to  
472 microbiome analysis best practices [63] and routinely report associations using standard alpha  
473 and beta diversity measurements. ~~The~~taxa ~~investigations~~investigations and ~~reports~~reports should also be  
474 consistent.

**Commented [SB19]:** The intended meaning of this sentence was unclear. The phrase "is another type of IF" implied that the IF was different from the one in the first sentence, but the IF in that sentence appears to be described in parentheses as including TRF. It seems like what it might have referred to is the IF regimen. I also noted two studies using TRF, and one of them did not use the times listed in this sentence. I revised the text here to present the information as a report about the study of Gabel et al.

475  
476  
477  
478  
479  
480  
481  
482  
483  
484  
485  
486  
487  
488  
489  
490  
491  
492  
493  
494  
495  
496  
497  
498  
499  
500  
501  
502  
503  
504  
505  
506  
507  
508  
509  
510  
511  
512

**Conclusions**

In conclusion, this systematic review suggests that IF modulates human gut microbiota diversity (both alpha and beta diversity). Human metabolic phenotype differences may alter alpha/beta diversity after a fasting intervention. Despite their variability, IF affects the gut microbiota at taxonomic levels in all metabolic phenotypes. Nevertheless, given the emerging recognition of the importance of intermittent fasting and the microbiome in physiological and pathological conditions, further investigations are warranted, ideally with adequately powered, long-term, placebo-controlled trials.

**Acknowledgments**

None.

**Sources of Support**

This work received no financial support for the research and publication of this article. Adriyan Pramono (A.P.) is supported for the junior scientist fellowship 2021 (RPI No. 185-67/UN7.6.1/PP/2021).

**Author contributions**

A.P., M.A., E.K.S.L., E.R.N., and E.S.L. conceptualized the review. A.P. and M.A. wrote the protocol and performed the searching and data extraction. A.P., M.A., and E.K.S.L. performed the assessment of study quality-~~of study assessment~~. A.P. wrote the manuscript. M.A., E.K.S.L., E.R.N., E.S.L., and F.M.S. reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

**Author Declarations**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

**References**

1. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. 2016. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 14:e1002533-e.
2. Lynch SV, Pedersen O. 2016. The human intestinal microbiome in health and disease. N Engl J Med. 375:2369-79.
3. Dekaboruah E, Suryavanshi MV, Chettri D, Verma AK. 2020. Human microbiome: an academic update on human body site specific surveillance and its possible role. Arch Microbiol. 202:2147-67.
4. Senghor B, Sokhna C, Ruimy R, Lagier J-C. 2018. Gut microbiota diversity according to dietary habits and geographical provenance. Human Microbiome Journal. 7-8:1-9.

**Commented [SB20]:** This phrasing is unclear. I am unsure of the precise name of the fellowship, but here are some alternative phrasings that seem possible for the text here:

received support from a junior scientist fellowship in 2021  
OR  
was supported by a junior scientist fellowship in 2021  
OR  
received support from a 2021 junior scientist fellowship  
OR  
was supported by a 2021 junior scientist fellowship

- 513 5. Kashtanova DA, Popenko AS, Tkacheva ON, Tyakht AB, Alexeev DG, Boytsov SA. 2016.  
514 Association between the gut microbiota and diet: Fetal life, early childhood, and further  
515 life. *Nutrition*. 32:620-7.
- 516 6. Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, Sogin ML,  
517 Jones WJ, Roe BA, Affourtit JP, et al. 2009. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean  
518 twins. *Nature*. 457:480-4.
- 519 7. Yu F, Han W, Zhan G, Li S, Jiang X, Wang L, Xiang S, Zhu B, Yang L, Luo A, et al. 2019.  
520 Abnormal gut microbiota composition contributes to the development of type 2 diabetes  
521 mellitus in db/db mice. *Aging (Albany NY)*. 11:10454-67.
- 522 8. Depommier C, Everard A, Druart C, Plovier H, Van Hul M, Vieira-Silva S, Falony G, Raes  
523 J, Maiter D, Delzenne NM, et al. 2019. Supplementation with *Akkermansia muciniphila* in  
524 overweight and obese human volunteers: a proof-of-concept exploratory study. *Nat Med*.  
525 25:1096-103.
- 526 9. Yang T, Santisteban MM, Rodriguez V, Li E, Ahmari N, Carvajal JM, Zadeh M, Gong M,  
527 Qi Y, Zubcevic J, et al. 2015. Gut dysbiosis is linked to hypertension. *Hypertension*.  
528 65:1331-40.
- 529 10. Canfora EE, Meex RCR, Venema K, Blaak EE. 2019. Gut microbial metabolites in obesity,  
530 NAFLD and T2DM. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 15:261-73.
- 531 11. Zheng D, Liwinski T, Elinav E. 2020. Interaction between microbiota and immunity in  
532 health and disease. *Cell Res*. 30:492-506.
- 533 12. Kho ZY, Lal SK. 2018. The Human Gut Microbiome – A Potential Controller of Wellness  
534 and Disease. *Front Microbiol*. 9.
- 535 13. Jandhyala SM, Talukdar R, Subramanyam C, Vuyyuru H, Sasikala M, Nageshwar Reddy  
536 D. 2015. Role of the normal gut microbiota. *World J Gastroenterol*. 21:8787-803.
- 537 14. Cani PD. 2018. Human gut microbiome: hopes, threats and promises. *Gut*. 67:1716.
- 538 15. Singh RK, Chang HW, Yan D, Lee KM, Ucmak D, Wong K, Abrouk M, Farahnik B,  
539 Nakamura M, Zhu TH, et al. 2017. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications  
540 for human health. *J Transl Med*. 15:73.
- 541 16. Rynders CA, Thomas EA, Zaman A, Pan Z, Catenacci VA, Melanson EL. 2019.  
542 Effectiveness of intermittent fasting and time-restricted feeding compared to continuous  
543 energy restriction for weight loss. *Nutrients*. 11:2442.
- 544 17. Bassaganya-Riera J, Berry EM, Blaak EE, Burlingame B, le Coutre J, van Eden W, El-  
545 Sohemy A, German JB, Knorr D, Lacroix C, et al. Goals in nutrition science 2020-2025.  
546 *Front Nutr*. 7.
- 547 18. Alghafli Z, Hatch TG, Rose AH, Abo-Zena MM, Marks LD, Dollahite DC. 2019. A  
548 Qualitative Study of Ramadan: a month of fasting, family, and faith. *Religions*. 10:123.
- 549 19. Persynaki A, Karras S, Pichard C. 2017. Unraveling the metabolic health benefits of fasting  
550 related to religious beliefs: a narrative review. *Nutrition*. 35:14-20.
- 551 20. Cignarella F, Cantoni C, Ghezzi L, Salter A, Dorsett Y, Chen L, Phillips D, Weinstock GM,  
552 Fontana L, Cross AH, et al. 2018. Intermittent fasting confers protection in CNS  
553 autoimmunity by altering the gut microbiota. *Cell Metab*. 27:1222-35.e6.
- 554 21. Catterson JH, Khericha M, Dyson MC, Vincent AJ, Callard R, Haveron SM, Rajasingam  
555 A, Ahmad M, Partridge L. 2018. Short-term, intermittent fasting induces long-lasting gut  
556 health and TOR-independent lifespan extension. *Curr Biol*. 28:1714-24.e4.
- 557 22. Li G, Xie C, Lu S, Nichols RG, Tian Y, Li L, Patel D, Ma Y, Brouck CN, Yan T, et al. 2017.  
558 Intermittent fasting promotes white adipose browning and decreases obesity by shaping  
559 the gut microbiota. *Cell Metab*. 26:672-85.e4.
- 560 23. Hu D, Mao Y, Xu G, Liao W, Yang H, Zhang H. 2018. Gut flora shift caused by time-  
561 restricted feeding might protect the host from metabolic syndrome, inflammatory bowel  
562 disease and colorectal cancer. *Transl Cancer Res*. 7:1282-9.
- 563 24. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L,  
564 Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, et al. 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated  
565 guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 372:n71.
- 566 25. Patterson RE, Sears DD. 2017. Metabolic Effects of Intermittent Fasting. *Annu Rev Nutr*.  
567 37:371-93.



26. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. Study Quality Assessment Tools 2013. Available from: <https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools> (accessed 2023-05-02).
27. Mesnage R, Grundle F, Schwartz A, Le Maho Y, Wilhelmi de Toledo F. 2019. Changes in human gut microbiota composition are linked to the energy metabolic switch during 10 d of Buchinger fasting. *J Nutr Sci.* 8:e36.
28. Özkul C, Yalinay M, Karakan T. 2019. Islamic fasting leads to an increased abundance of *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Bacteroides fragilis* group: a preliminary study on intermittent fasting. *Turk J Gastroenterol.* 30:1030-5.
29. He Y, Yin J, Lei J, Liu F, Zheng H, Wang S, Wu S, Sheng H, McGovern E, Zhou H. 2019. Fasting challenges human gut microbiome resilience and reduces *Fusobacterium*. *Med in Microecol.* 1-2:100003.
30. Zeb F, Wu X, Chen L, Fatima S, Haq IU, Chen A, Majeed F, Feng Q, Li M. 2020. Effect of time-restricted feeding on metabolic risk and circadian rhythm associated with gut microbiome in healthy males. *Br J Nutr.* 123:1216-26.
31. Gabel K, Marcell J, Cares K, Kalam F, Cienfuegos S, Ezpeleta M, Varady KA. 2020. Effect of time restricted feeding on the gut microbiome in adults with obesity: a pilot study. *Nutr Health.* 26:79-85.
32. Remely M, Hippe B, Geretschlaeger I, Stegmayer S, Hoefinger I, Haslberger A. 2015. Increased gut microbiota diversity and abundance of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and *Akkermansia* after fasting: a pilot study. *Wien Klin Wochenschr.* 127:394-8.
33. Ozkul C, Yalinay M, Karakan T. 2020. Structural changes in gut microbiome after Ramadan fasting: a pilot study. *Benef Microbes.* 11:227-33.
34. Su J, Wang Y, Zhang X, Ma M, Xie Z, Pan Q, Ma Z, Peppelenbosch MP. 2021. Remodeling of the gut microbiome during Ramadan-associated intermittent fasting. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 113:1332-42.
35. Maifeld A, Bartolomaeus H, Löber U, Avery EG, Steckhan N, Markó L, Wilck N, Hamad I, Šušnjar U, Mähler A, et al. 2021. Fasting alters the gut microbiome reducing blood pressure and body weight in metabolic syndrome patients. *Nat Commun.* 12:1970.
36. Ali I, Liu K, Long D, Faisal S, Hilal MG, Ali I, Huang X, Long R. 2021. Ramadan fasting leads to shifts in human gut microbiota structured by dietary composition. *Front Microbiol.* 12:642999.
37. Mohammadzadeh A, Roshanravan N, Mesri Alamdari N, Safaiyan A, Mosharkesh E, Hadi A, Barati M, Ostadrahimi A. 2021. The interplay between fasting, gut microbiota, and lipid profile. *Int J Clin Pract.* 75:e14591.
38. Stanislawski MA, Frank DN, Borengasser SJ, Ostendorf DM, Ir D, Jambal P, Bing K, Wayland L, Siebert JC, Bessesen DH, et al. 2021. The gut microbiota during a behavioral weight loss intervention. *Nutrients.* 13.
39. Guo Y, Luo S, Ye Y, Yin S, Fan J, Xia M. 2021. Intermittent fasting improves cardiometabolic risk factors and alters gut microbiota in metabolic syndrome patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 106:64-79.
40. Magne F, Gotteland M, Gauthier L, Zazueta A, Pessoa S, Navarrete P, Balamurugan R. 2020. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio: a relevant marker of gut dysbiosis in obese patients? *Nutrients.* 12:1474.
41. Crovesy L, Masterson D, Rosado EL. 2020. Profile of the gut microbiota of adults with obesity: a systematic review. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 74:1251-62.
42. Duan M, Wang Y, Zhang Q, Zou R, Guo M, Zheng H. 2021. Characteristics of gut microbiota in people with obesity. *PLoS One.* 16:e0255446-e.
43. Serino M, Luche E, Gres S, Baylac A, Bergé M, Cenac C, Waget A, Klopp P, Iacovoni J, Klopp C, et al. 2012. Metabolic adaptation to a high-fat diet is associated with a change in the gut microbiota. *Gut.* 61:543-53.
44. Lozupone CA, Stombaugh JI, Gordon JI, Jansson JK, Knight R. 2012. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature.* 489:220-30.



45. Le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin J, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, Almeida M, Arumugam M, Batto JM, Kennedy S, et al. 2013. Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. *Nature*. 500:541-6.
46. Sokolović M, Wehkamp D, Sokolović A, Vermeulen J, Gilhuijs-Pederson LA, van Haaften RI, Nikolsky Y, Evelo CT, van Kampen AH, Hakvoort TB, et al. 2007. Fasting induces a biphasic adaptive metabolic response in murine small intestine. *BMC Genom*. 8:361.
47. Daas MC, de Roos NM. 2021. Intermittent fasting contributes to aligned circadian rhythms through interactions with the gut microbiome. *Benef Microbes*. 12:147-61.
48. Frazier K, Chang EB. 2020. Intersection of the gut microbiome and circadian rhythms in metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 31:25-36.
49. Thaïss CA, Zeevi D, Levy M, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Tengeler AC, Abramson L, Katz MN, Korem T, Zmora N, et al. 2014. Transkingdom control of microbiota diurnal oscillations promotes metabolic homeostasis. *Cell*. 159:514-29.
50. Schönfeld P, Wojtczak L. 2016. Short- and medium-chain fatty acids in energy metabolism: the cellular perspective. *J Lipid Res*. 57:943-54.
51. Hoddy KK, Marlatt KL, Çetinkaya H, Ravussin E. 2020. Intermittent fasting and metabolic health: from religious fast to time-restricted feeding. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md)*. 28 Suppl 1:S29-S37.
52. de Cabo R, Mattson MP. 2019. Effects of intermittent fasting on health, aging, and disease. *N Eng J Med*. 381:2541-51.
53. Angoorani P, Ejtahed H-S, Hasani-Ranjbar S, Siadat SD, Soroush AR, Larijani B. 2021. Gut microbiota modulation as a possible mediating mechanism for fasting-induced alleviation of metabolic complications: a systematic review. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. 18:105.
54. Ejtahed H-s, Angoorani P, Soroush A-r, Hasani-ranjbar S. 2020. Gut microbiota-derived metabolites in obesity : a systematic review. *Biosci Microbiota Food Health*. 39:65-76.
55. Parkar SG, Kalsbeek A, Cheeseman JF. 2019. Potential role for the gut microbiota in modulating host circadian rhythms and metabolic health. *Microorganisms*. 7.
56. Macchione IG, Lopetuso LR, Ianiro G, Napoli M, Gibiino G, Rizzatti G, Petito V, Gasbarrini A, Scaldaferri F. 2019. *Akkermansia muciniphila*: key player in metabolic and gastrointestinal disorders. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*. 23:8075-83.
57. Geerlings SY, Kostopoulos I, de Vos WM, Belzer C. 2018. *Akkermansia muciniphila* in the human gastrointestinal tract: When, Where, and How? *Microorganisms*. 6.
58. Qasrawi SO, Pandi-Perumal SR, BaHammam AS. 2017. The effect of intermittent fasting during Ramadan on sleep, sleepiness, cognitive function, and circadian rhythm. *Sleep Breath*. 21:577-86.
59. Wang RX, Lee JS, Campbell EL, Colgan SP. 2020. Microbiota-derived butyrate dynamically regulates intestinal homeostasis through regulation of actin-associated protein synaptopodin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 117:11648-57.
60. Blaak EE, Canfora EE, Theis S, Frost G, Groen AK, Mithieux G, Nauta A, Scott K, Stahl B, van Harsselaar J, et al. 2020. Short chain fatty acids in human gut and metabolic health. *Benef Microbes*. 11:411-55.
61. Rios-Covian D, Salazar N, Gueimonde M, de los Reyes-Gavilan CG. 2017. Shaping the metabolism of intestinal bacteroides population through diet to improve human health. *Front Microbiol*. 8.
62. Wexler AG, Goodman AL. 2017. An insider's perspective: Bacteroides as a window into the microbiome. *Nat Microbiol*. 2:17026.
63. Knight R, Vrbanc A, Taylor BC, Aksenov A, Callewaert C, Debelius J, Gonzalez A, Kosciolk T, McCall LI, McDonald D, et al. 2018. Best practices for analysing microbiomes. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 16:410-22.

**Table 1.** Characteristics of the fasting studies included in the systematic review on the effect of intermittent fasting on the gut microbiome

**Table 2.** Primary outcomes for gut microbiota diversity following fasting interventions

**Table 3.** ~~The~~Effect of fasting on gut microbiota composition in humans



Adriyan Pramono &lt;adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id&gt;

---

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health - Final Data Submitted BMFH-2023-111.R2**

1 pesan

**Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health** <onbehalf@manuscriptcentral.com>

21 April 2024 pukul 16.10

Balas Ke: bmfh@ipec-pub.co.jp

Kepada: adriyanpramono@fk.undip.ac.id

21-Apr-2024

Dear Dr. Pramono:

You have submitted the final data for manuscript entitled "Intermittent Fasting Modulates Human Gut Microbiota Diversity in a Phenotype-dependent Manner: A Systematic Review".

Your manuscript ID is BMFH-2023-111.R2.

As this is an automatic notification, please mention the above manuscript ID when sending e-mails to the office for questions.

Thank you for submitting your manuscript to the Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.

Sincerely,  
Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health Editorial Office